  THE SHARED HERITAGE TRAIL OF GREENGATES AND PARKLAND   
                                       PRIMARY SCHOOLS

For the purposes of this book, we begin at the War Memorial which is at the centre of Greengates, though one can begin the trail at any point along the route as it is a circular route and you always end up right back where you began!
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So, beginning at the War Memorial, we can tell you that this was built in memory of those who died in the First World War. This one is topped out with a beautiful angel, who holds a laurel wreath in her hands. Of course, there are names added from the Second World War too. At the foot of the memorial are flower beds of white and red, and seats are set in the gardens, from where one can sit and admire the memorial’s beauty.
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From here venture past the Seven Stars public house, and turn left into Stockhill Road, passing Greengates Primary School on the right. Along this road are many houses and cottages, all blending in together. On the left is Galloway Road; well worth a quick detour to see the various styles of dwelling. (Notice our photo of what we think is the smallest house in Greengates – though it could be just an entrance to a larger house, of course!)  Having had a ‘shufty’ around, rejoin Stockhill Road, and continue on to Stockhill Fold, which is on the right. Here, venture in to take a peek at some of the original cottages. We have to be careful in identifying which ones they are, since so much has been rebuilt and renovated here. The originals were built for weavers and date back to as early as 1796 – quite an age (though not the oldest houses we will see on our trail!) They are all listed buildings.                                                                                       
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It was at Stockhill Fold, in 1775, that a very famous Methodist preacher, Mr. John Wesley – no less, stayed the night (perhaps several) when he was visiting Bradford. The story goes that he had come to revere the opening of the first Eccleshill Chapel, but there were disputes over the Trustees’ wish to be “masters in their own house” – something which did not go down well with others, and Mr. Wesley had attempted to intervene to get the problem resolved. However, he had little luck, and wrote the following: “In the afternoon I spent some hours with the trustees of the Eccleshill House, but I might as well have talked to so many posts.”(By “posts” he meant planks of wood!) Though Mr. Wesley went back that same evening and preached to a very appreciative congregation, he did admit he was glad to be staying at Greengates, where he found the people much more agreeable!
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From here we join Leeds Road and walk in the direction of Thackley. Can you spot the signpost on the building opposite, on the corner of Albion Road? It says, simply “Nimrod’s Place. 1855” – who was “Nimrod”? First, we have to go to the Bible: “Cush begat Nimrod. He was a mighty hunter before the Lord.” Is this where the name came from? Well, sort of, but not exactly! This house (and others connected), was built by William Jowett, who was a clothier, and he also built Greenside Mill. He was very well known for being a sportsman – particularly hunting and shooting; in fact, he was said to be such a swift rider that he could put “Nimrod” to shame, and that’s how the name came about!

 “Nimrod” Jowett kept kennels at Fourlands House, introducing his pack of hounds to the Greengates area, and adding a flash of colour to the pleasure of local devotees of the sport. Later, William’s son, Henry, would inherit the title “Master of the Hunt” and continue the tradition of the Airedale Beagles – as the hunt became known.
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Continuing along Leeds Road, one arrives at Hemmingway Road (on the right), joining it to walk in the direction of the canal. Shortly it joins Apperley Road, where one sees, once again, the old mingling with the new. Arrive at the canal and the swing bridge that crosses it. If you wish, at this point you can take a stroll along the canal to Dobson’s Lock, which you can see in the distance, then return to this point to continue the trail. The idea of a canal was first mooted as far back as 1664, but nothing came of it. It would be another hundred years before real progress was made but it certainly was, and in the body of John Hustler of Bradford, who persuaded wealthy Quakers (members of a religious community) to fund the idea. Many meetings would take place, but by 1770 an Act had been passed so the building of the canal could begin. The first completed section of the canal was between Bingley and Skipton, opened in 1773. It is said the bells rang out from all the churches along the route, and thousands of people celebrated. It would take a while longer for our section of the canal to open – 1777 to be precise, but when it did, all our bells rang out too! These days the canal is used mostly for pleasure; boating in vessels of all kinds – not just narrow-boats – is the order of the day, plus fishing, of course! 

The swing bridge reminds us of another “Swing bridge” (we assume it must be one and the same) connected with one of the country’s greatest swindlers and charlatans – John Wroe – a.k.a the “Prophet” Wroe. Mr. Wroe was a follower of Johanna Southcott, a lady who was at that time claiming to be a prophetess, purporting to have visions, and also claiming to be a woman mentioned in the Bible who [image: image10.jpg]


would bear a son to be the new Saviour. These shenanigans took place in the early 1800s, when religious mania was rife, and when it soon became clear to Mr. Wroe that people were willing to believe anything they were told, and that’s when he began scheming! In 1819, Mr. Wroe [image: image11.jpg]


announced he was having visions, fits and trances – where he saw the future. He said angels visited him, commanding him to form his own church, where his followers would be safe from “terrible things to happen”. As expected, people flocked to his sermons, and as they were his “flock”, Mr. Wroe soon began fleecing them! But he would become a cropper the day he announced he would come to Apperley Bridge to be baptised. (We reproduce the pamphlet, below, advertising the event.) By this time the “Prophet” had a huge following, including a group of virgins dressed in white, who accompanied him everywhere he went. He was expecting a large crowd to turn up for the publicity stunt, but not quite the crowd that did! On his arrival from Idle (where his procession – complete [image: image12.jpg]


with virgins – had begun), he found waiting for him a crowd of 30,000 people! His route from Idle was along New Street and Apperley Road, arriving at the “Swing Bridge”, before moving on to the river. We can now follow the route to where the big event was to take place. Continue along Apperley Road and follow it round to a point a couple of hundred yards before Elm Tree Farm. Here, on the left, is a massive field, which one enters by use of a stile in order to walk down to the river bank. Looking down, we see where the shallows would allow for him to be bathed without fear of drowning. But thereby hangs the tale! The [image: image13.jpg]THE PROPHET WROE WANGLE

the eacly days of the year 1824 a bill was to be seen posted in various
parts of Idle-Thorpe and the district, which was worded as follows :

THE PUBLIC ARE RESPECTFULLY INFORMED

THAT
JOHN WROE
WILL BE
PUBLICLY RAPTISED

IN THE RIVER AIRE.
NEAE IDLE-THORPE
AT HALF-PAST ONE 0'CLOCK
NDAY, THE 20TH DAY OF THE 25D MoxTH, 1824,

AT WHICH HOLY ORDINANCE APPROPRIATE HYMNS (ACCOMPANIED BY A
SELECT BAND OF MUSIC) WILL BE SUNG, AND IMMEDIATELY AFTER
WILLIAM TWIGG,

OXE OF THE WITNESSES MENTIONED IN REV. CHAP. 1] WILL PREACH THE
EVERLASTING GOSPEL, A% REVEALED BY THE REDEEMER OF THE WORLD.




huge crowd of 30,000 souls had mostly come for fun and all hoping to see Wroe come to a sticky end. A rumour went round that he had actually come to perform a miracle – he was to part the waters of the Aire, just like Moses had done; even walk on water like Jesus! With the crowd baying for blood, the “Prophet” was now forced to perform a miracle and of course, he failed – miserably! The horde were not about to let him go, and shouts of “drown him” and “duck him” were heard, and Wroe had to run for his life! He survived the ordeal, and still went on to make a vast fortune from his “believers” – but he never returned to Apperley Bridge!

[image: image14.jpg]


[image: image15.jpg]


Remaining by the river, but walking a few yards to the left, to the corner of the field, we see from here the railway bridge that spans the River Aire. Look carefully and one can see that, though most of the bridge is made of stone, one of the spans is actually of steel. There is a tragic reason for this. To know why the bridge was rebuilt so, we must return to 1866 and to the night of 20th November, or thereabouts, and to an event subsequently named “The Great Flood of 1866”. The details were recorded thus: “There had been torrential rains for some days resulting in the flooding of the rivers and the consequent submerging of vast areas of Yorkshire.” The floods began in the ravines above Malham, and soon every little beck became a raging torrent. The whole of the Aire Valley, from Skipton to Shipley was under water, while at Apperley Bridge only the crowns of the trees were showing above. With so much water flowing down the valley, smashing against the bridge and loosening the foundations, something was about to give: at the height of the flood the ten-arched viaduct fell – taking with it a fully-loaded luggage train, consisting of engine and tender, two wagons, and the guard’s van. Incredibly, a passenger train had passed over the bridge only minutes before; the guard reporting that the bridge had shuddered – even moved, as they crossed. He had reported this immediately, but too late to save the goods train. Though the red-for-danger signal was flown, the engine driver was already bringing his train to the bridge’s approach and could not halt in time. The train actually came to a stop directly on the bridge - above the raging torrent - and on a bridge now swaying dangerously. Amazingly, the men had just enough time to escape; some even still on the bridge as it came crashing down around them, but they all made it to safety.  One observer, standing safely on the hill above, reported: “All ten arches fell with a tremendous crash, into the swirling river below; the train now completely buried in the ruins. The enormous mass of masonry, as it lay across the channel, completely blocked the progress of the torrent, but not for long. Within seconds the water rose up, leaping over the barrier, and was again tearing down the valley.”
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Retracing our footsteps back to the stile in Apperley Road, and stopping to look back, let’s not forget that we could never have done this here on that night. Back in Apperley Road continue on to Elm Tree Farm, a lovely little cottage stood at the side of the road. This ancient farmstead has stood here for at least four-hundred years, being first recorded in 1629, when it was owned by a Thomas Atkinson. It was originally known as Slater’s farm after tenants who occupied the cottage in the 1700s; it was later – with the planting of an elm tree – that it was renamed Elm Tree Farm (then later Elm Tree Cottage). To live here is no doubt a dream, but just remember: this building lay in the direct way of that flood of 1866; here the terrified residents had huddled together on the upper floors, watching from the upper windows as the viaduct fell; saw the waters ever rising, swirling around the house, the downstairs rooms completely under water. They saw their sheep and cattle carried off in the swirling waters; their hay ricks, hen-coops, dog-kennels and farmyard goods and machinery swept away into the night. For them it was no dream – it was a nightmare! 
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Our next point of interest is the old Apperley Bridge, which one soon arrives at. Standing in the centre is an old upright inscribed stone. It is very difficult to read the inscription, but if it is a date stone it should have 1602 engraved on it, which is when the bridge was built. Before this, there had been another stone bridge, and long before that a wooden one dating back to 1189; in fact, at one time Apperley Bridge was the only crossing on the River Aire between Bingley and Kirkstall. It was over this bridge that Cromwell’s men marched when on their way to relieve Leeds in the Civil Wars.
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It was also over this bridge that marched – one hundred years later – “Rebecca” who had “gone out to sweep.” Rebecca? Now what in Heaven’s name are we talking about, you ask? Well, things get even weirder when we quote from Scruton’s book: “Pen, Pencil Pictures of Bradford”: “Bands of men in female attire, with blackened faces and veils over their heads, went about by night, creating great commotion ... they were styled “Rebecca,” and whenever they went abroad on their errands of mischief, it was said that “Rebecca had gone out to sweep.” Men dressed up as women? Here at Apperley Bridge? Whatever was going on? Well, simply put, it was this: roads were in such poor condition that the government had been forced to pass the Turnpike Act, and the making of turnpike roads, to be paid for by tolls collected at bridges and toll-houses. It was the poorest members of society – thinking they would end up footing the bill – that decided to sabotage the Act by committing wanton acts of vandalism: burning down the toll-gates that barred them from using the roads. To do this, the perpetrators needed to be heavily disguised, and so was born the idea of men dressing as women, all being addressed by the same name “Rebecca”, ensuring that – unless they were caught – no one could possibly identify them. The movement spread rapidly and soon “Rebecca” was “out sweeping” all over the country. Here, Apperley Bridge became one of those toll-bridges, and so the locals of Greengates and the surrounding area banded, donning the skirts and shawls, blackening their faces, and attacking the toll-kiosk on the bridge. This took place on the night of the 18th of June, 1753, when “Rebeccas’” were out in other parts of Bradford too. The Bradford toll-house survived, but the Apperley Bridge one was destroyed. Bolstered by the success at Apperley Bridge, in the days to come hundreds of rioters would gather to help “Rebecca” sweep away all the toll-gates in Bradford, and it was said that for a time the night sky glowed from the flames, and echoed to the shouts of unruly mobs in frightening dress bent on destruction, causing many locals to think they were being attacked by ghosts!       
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The George and Dragon Inn, opposite the bridge, would have stood witness to “Rebecca’s” sweepings, just as it would have seen Cromwell’s men pass over the bridge in 1645, on their way to take Leeds. The date stone on the gable end of the building says 1704, and that was probably when the building became a public house, but it was here long before then and because of this it was deemed “The First House in Idle.” Of course, by that they meant it was the only house still standing in the area that could have its history dated back to the 1500s – all else had gone, or never existed. The great oak beams that support the roof date back to long before the 1700s, while a record of deeds was taken in 1587, proving that the building was here then. Today, much of what we see has been rebuilt, but the house still retains many of its original features, and would be recognised by those who once used it – including highwaymen, footpads, and yes – Rebecca! 

From here walk the few yards to Harrogate Road, taking great care to cross, and only at the crossing (this is a very dangerous spot – there has been loss of life here in the past). Now join Parkin Lane, a very straight road that will lead us to Calverley Cutting. Following the lane, we cross over the canal and from time to time can look down on ancient cottages and farmsteads. To the left, on the far side of the River Aire, are the playing fields of Woodhouse Grove School, these days [image: image23.jpg]


used for rugby and football, but once they were the site of several attempts to break aviation world-records, for here stood the Apperley Bridge “Aerodrome.” It all happened in 1910, when flying-fever had gripped the nation; attempts to break records were being tried all the time – particularly at Blackpool and Filey, then someone heard about the small airfield at Apperley Bridge. Having a runway (i.e. flat field) of a quarter of a mile was considered sufficient for the aviators’ needs, and so the planes soon began to arrive. There seems to be some confusion as to who flew what, and when, but many attempts ended in disaster. Luckily, no one was killed, though a “Mr. House” – his motor beginning to misfire while high in the air – plummeted into a wall, smashing a hole clean through it! (see our picture, right). 
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Steadily, climb Parkin Lane until you come to the start of Calverley Woods, this section being known as the West Wood. Here our Heritage Trail veers to the right, for we are going to join the Leeds Country Way, but if you wish, you might like to continue to explore along the cutting for a few hundred yards before returning to this point. Whether you decide to take a detour or continue immediately, one thing is for sure: the next half-a-mile is the most picturesque of all; the forest here is beautiful – and ancient – beyond belief. Oh, and one more thing, keep an ear open, and an eye peeled – for here rides the Headless Horseman! No, we are not going to talk about him now; we will reserve that for when we are deep in the wood! Instead we are going to take you to a magical place; a place that everybody has long since forgotten about; a place where, once upon a time, many people came hoping for miracles to happen, for here, deep in the wood, lies the site of a Holy Well; not just a site, in fact, the well is still here, in situ, and with everything intact - though a little grown over and neglected! Finding the well is not the easiest of things to do: unfortunately it is not on or by the track that we walk upon. It is nearby, however, in fact just up on the hillside to the left, but there is no way for us to mark it out for you. The best thing is this: walk for about ten minutes, keeping a [image: image26.png]


look out for any paths that veer off to the left. If you see a path that is surrounded by large rocks then take it. You should see a flat piece of ground – shaped like a square pond, but heavily silted. This primitive-looking pool may have formed part of the Holy Well’s complex; the well being sited just above it (a footpath leads the way). You will find the well beside a flight of stone steps that at one time would have led visitors down from Eleanor Drive above. In her book “Historic Wells Around Bradford” Val Shepherd refers to a number of Holy Wells in the Bradford area. Today, most of these have disappeared, or have been swallowed up by housing estates where Bradford has developed from a town into a city. Our well remains exactly where it is, and but for the pool silting up, is very much as it were. Holy Wells were believed to hold miraculous cures, and people would travel miles to bathe in and drink the waters. The holy powers of the water were thought to cure aches and pains, [image: image27.jpg]


skin problems and infections. Some even believed they might walk again if they bathed – hence perhaps the pool? At certain times of the year the well head might be dressed with flowers and rushes; a tradition that continues in other parts of the country. Crowds would flock to sing hymns and praise the Lord for being cured of their ailments. Did this ever happen here, at our Holy Well? We can only wonder...

And now we come to the most frightening subject on the trail; forget floods, forget men dressed as women – here comes the legend of the Headless Horseman, and who knows, he might be riding in this direction right now! This story is what nightmares are made of; every horror film maker in the world would love to recreate this story – it has everything, from a mad, murderous man; a coven of witches; a legend – and a headless phantom, cursed to ride [image: image28.jpg]


through the Calverley Woods, for ever and a day ... and it’s all true! Walter Calverley, who lived at Calverley Hall, had married in 1601 Phillippa, the daughter of Lord Cobham. By her he had three sons, William, Walter and Henry. Calverley was a wastrel (someone who squanders everything); he drank far too much, and gambled at cards, always hoping to win, but always losing in the end. On one dark and stormy night – frenzied by drink – the unhappy man, unable to raise money and fearing everything was about to be taken away from him, burst into the hall’s nursery, stabbing his two eldest children (then just babes). His wife, upon hearing the commotion, dashed into the bedroom where she too was attacked, receiving the dagger in her breast. The mad husband then dashed out of the room leaving behind a wounded wife (she would live) but two children who were slain. Calverley was not yet finished with his murderous quest: now he set out, by horse, to track down his youngest child, who was staying with a nurse. However, news soon reached the bailiff (policeman) who quickly put together a posse, and set off in search of the father. Luckily, they caught Calverley before he could kill his third child, and he was thrown into prison. At his trial, in order to save his estates, he refused to plead “guilty” or “not guilty”, and because of this, he was sentenced to a horrible end – one of being squashed to death! This procedure – known as “pressing” – involved tying the man down to a door, then slowly pressing heavy [image: image29.jpg]o ‘\_N
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stones on his chest, until the weight forced the very life out of him! “Walter o’ Calverley – A pund o’ more weight lig on, lig on”, went a saying concerning the execution. But the story did not end there. It is said the body of Walter Calverley was stolen by his servants, and taken from place to place before being secretly buried in Calverley Church. Here he should have been at rest, except that a coven of witches discovered where he lay and through their spells conjured up the ghost of the dead man. Having done so, they laid a curse on him: that for all time he was to ride through the woods of Calverley – almost a re-enactment of his ride to find his third child – without his head, and with a headless horse to make doubly sure he would never fulfil his quest. And that should be the end of the story – but not quite, for when the church was undergoing restoration many years later, a skeleton of a man was found close to where the Calverleys were interred; he had been buried without a coffin, and embedded in plaster. It seems Walter Calverley had indeed been buried in the church! And what of his ghost? Well, they do say that on dark and stormy nights ...    
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Thank goodness we have reached the end of the wood and to where the path joins Leeds Road – “he” might have caught us if we had stayed there any longer! 

From here turn right and walk the few yards to Carr Bottom Road, on the right. Turning into here, follow the road around, until arriving at Harrogate Road. Here turn right to briefly visit the church of St John the Evangelical. The tower and spire on this church can be seen from many miles around, and is something of an oddity to us, as we think it resembles an owl with a dunce’s cap on its head! (Take a look at our photograph and you will see what we mean!) We have one last secret to share with you, which we have decided to save to the very end. Going back to our story of Walter Calverley, we mentioned there was a legend attached, but we purposely did not say then what that legend was. Now we will tell you:  a gentleman helping us with our trail was once asked by BBC Radio Leeds to try to discover what were the spells used by the witches to invoke the spirit of Walter Calverley. He – after much research – discovered the secret spell, which involved standing by the door of Calverley Church and uttering an incantation through the keyhole of the locked door, then making a certain whistle which was a signal for the ghost to arise. He told us that on a dark and frosty winter’s morning, he went to the church and performed the incantation. Did it work? The gentleman’s not telling!

We do hope that you have enjoyed your time with us. We also hope that one day you may join us again as we walk our wonderful Heritage Trail.
